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INTRODUCTION 

Under 18 U.S.C. § 1152, neither federal law nor federal jurisdiction apply to 

“offenses committed by one Indian against the person or property of another 

Indian.”  Because both the victim and defendant Julian Ismael Loera are Indians 

under the definition set forth in United States v. Bruce, 394 F.3d 1215 (9th Cir. 

2004), jurisdiction was not proper before the magistrate judge. The judge should 

therefore have granted Mr. Loera’s motion to dismiss the complaint filed against 

him. 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

Magistrate Court Jurisdiction. The government filed a complaint1 charging 

Mr. Loera with one count of violating 18 U.S.C. § 113(a)(4) in Indian country; 

federal subject-matter jurisdiction was asserted under 18 U.S.C. § 1152. The 

magistrate judge had jurisdiction to try this petty-offense allegation2 under 18 

U.S.C. § 3401.  

                                           
1 M.J. Dkt. #1 
2 According to the complaint, the alleged incident occurred on February 2, 2013. 
(M.J. Dkt. #1 at 1.) At the time, the maximum penalty for this crime was six 
months in jail, making the crime a Class B misdemeanor, see 18 U.S.C. 
§ 3559(a)(7), and thus a petty offense, see 18 U.S.C. § 19. Effective March 7, 
2013, the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013 increased the 
maximum penalty from six months to one year, making the crime now a Class A 
misdemeanor eligible to be tried in the first instance by the district court. See 
Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013, Pub. L. No. 113-4, 
§ 906(a)(1)(D), 127 Stat. 54, 124 (codified at 18 U.S.C. § 113(a)(4)).  
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District Court Jurisdiction. The magistrate judge’s judgment of conviction 

is an appealable order.3  This Court has jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3402.4 

Timeliness of Appeal. The magistrate judge entered the conviction order on 

his docket on September 4, 2013.5  Mr. Loera filed his notice of appeal 14 days 

later.6  This appeal is timely.7 

Custody Status. By order of September 12, 2013, the magistrate judge 

reduced the sentence imposed to time served.8  Mr. Loera is therefore no longer in 

custody. This appeal is not moot because Mr. Loera continues to challenge his 

conviction.9  

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1.   Burden Shifting. In a § 1152 case, once a defendant produces 
prima facie evidence that he is an Indian, due process requires 
the government to disprove that he is an Indian beyond a 
reasonable doubt. Here, the magistrate ruled that Mr. Loera had 
produced prima facie evidence that he is an Indian, yet forced 

                                           
3 See United States v. Soolook, 987 F.2d 574, 575 (9th Cir. 1993). 
4 This brief complies with Fed. R.App .P. 32(a)(7)(B) governing length of briefs.  
However, the rules are not clear regarding the length of the Opening Memorandum 
in appeals from a magistrate court to the district court.  See Fed. R. Crim. P. 58(g) 
and D. Ariz. Civ. R. 7.2(e).  Therefore, if necessary, the appellant requests leave to 
exceed the page limit imposed by D. Ariz. Civ. R. 7.2(e).  Assistant United States 
Attorney, Paul Stearns was contacted regarding this request and does not object to 
it.   
5 M.J. Dkt. #42. 
6 M.J. Dkt. #45. 
7 See Fed. R. Crim. P. 58(g)(2)(B). 
8 M.J. Dkt. #44. 
9 See United States v. Ventre, 338 F.3d 1047, 1050–51 (9th Cir. 2003). 
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him to prove that he is an Indian. Did the magistrate place the 
burden on the government, as due process requires? 

2.   Insufficient Evidence of Non-Indian Status. Evidence is 
sufficient to show that a defendant is not an Indian if no rational 
factfinder could conclude that he is an Indian. Here, the 
magistrate judge found that Mr. Loera has three-sixteenths Fort 
Mohave Indian blood, received services reserved only to 
Indians or their descendants, and participated in the social life 
of the Fort Mohave tribe. Could a rational factfinder conclude, 
on this evidence, that Mr. Loera is an Indian? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On February 8, 2013, the government charged Mr. Loera with one count of 

assault by striking, beating, or wounding, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 113(a)(4).10 

The complaint alleged that Mr. Loera was a non-Indian and that the victim was an 

Indian, and thus invoked subject-matter jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 1152.11 A 

month later, Mr. Loera moved to dismiss the complaint on the ground that he is an 

Indian, such that jurisdiction was not proper under 18 U.S.C. § 1152.12  The 

magistrate judge held a hearing on the motion on two nonconsecutive days.13 

                                           
10 M.J. Dkt. #1. 
11 M.J. Dkt. #1. 
12 M.J. Dkt. #10. 
13 M.J. Dkt. #20, 21. 
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1.  Mr. Loera is descended from Indians and has political and social ties to 
a federally recognized Indian tribe. 

Julian Ismael Loera is 32 years old.14  He is 3/16 Fort Mojave Indian 

according to the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe.15  He is not an enrolled member of the 

Fort Mojave Indian Tribe because the Tribe requires a minimum ¼ blood quantum 

to be eligible for enrollment.16  Most of Mr. Loera’s closest family and friends, 

including his mother, son, and girlfriend, are enrolled Fort Mojave Tribal 

members.17  At the time of his arrest in this case, Mr. Loera was living with his 

aunt, Lena Michelle Holmes, on the Fort Mojave Indian reservation.18  Ms. Holmes 

is also an enrolled member of the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe.19   

The Fort Mojave Indian Tribe of Arizona, California & Nevada is a federally 

recognized Indian tribe.20 This Court must recognize, as a matter of law, that that 

tribe is federally recognized.21  

The Fort Mojave Indian Tribe is also known as Aha Macav, and the Pipa 

Aha Macav, which means “people by the water.”22 The Fort Mojave Indian 

                                           
14 RT 145:22-23. 
15 Dkt. #16 ¶ 7. 
16 Dkt. #16 ¶6. 
17 Dkt #16 ¶¶ 3 & 5; RT 15:14-15, 55:6-25, 60:7-9. 
18 RT 45:14 to 46:8. 
19 RT 15:14-15. 
20 See Indian Entities Recognized and Eligible to Receive Services from the United 
States Bureau of Indian Affairs, 78 Fed. Reg. 26384, 26386 (May 6, 2013) 
21 See United States v. Zepeda, No. 10-10131, 2013 WL 5273093, at *8 (9th Cir. 
Sept. 19, 2013). 
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reservation occupies land in three states—Arizona, California, and Nevada.23  The 

portion of the reservation in Arizona is called the “Arizona Village.”24 Mr. Loera’s 

grandmother, mother, aunts and uncles were the first Fort Mojave Indians to reside 

in the housing area that has become known as the Arizona Village.25 

Mr. Loera was born in Needles, California, because it was the closest 

hospital to his mother’s residence on the Fort Mojave Indian reservation.26  The 

hospital where Mr. Loera was born is a ten-minute drive from the Fort Mojave 

reservation.27  When Mr. Loera was born, the nearest Indian Health Service (IHS) 

hospital was an hour’s drive from his mother’s residence.28 

A.   Mr. Loera was raised on the Fort Mojave Indian Reservation in a Fort 
Mojave Indian family. 

Mr. Loera was raised in the Arizona Village portion of the Fort Mojave 

reservation29 by his mother, his aunt, Lena Michelle Holmes, and his grandmother, 

Wynona Brian Loera.30  He grew up in a tight-knit extended family.31  He and his 

                                                                                                                                        
22 RT 239:1-2. 
23 RT 17:4-16. 
24 RT 18:8-10. 
25 RT 17:6-10. 
26 RT 146:10-14; 41:23-24. 
27 RT 189:11-12. 
28 RT 189: 6-10. 
29 RT 18:19-25, 19:1-23. 
30 RT 129:20-25, 130:1-6. 
31 RT 16:2-20. 
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five cousins are “very, very close, like brothers, like siblings.”32  His cousins are 

all enrolled tribal members.33  Mr. Loera lived on the Fort Mojave Indian 

reservation from the time he was born until he was 18 years old.34  When he was 

13 or 14 years old, Mr. Loera’s mother moved to a house in the town of Fort 

Mojave, Arizona, a short distance off the reservation.35  When his mother moved, 

Mr. Loera moved with her, but returned to live at his aunt’s house on the 

reservation after approximately two weeks because he missed his family, friends 

and the reservation.36  

B.   As a child, Mr. Loera received medical care through the Indian Health 
Service.  

Mr. Loera’s mother, Lydia Ruiz, testified that when Mr. Loera was growing 

up, he received free medical care through the IHS Community Health 

Representative office on the Fort Mojave Indian reservation.37  When questioned 

on this issue by the government, Ms. Ruiz stood firm, stating: “It was [IHS].  

                                           
32 RT 16:16-20; 217:3-20. 
33 RT 16:10-13, 217:14-18. 

 
34 RT 18:19-25, 19:19-23. 
35 RT 216:14-23; 132:10-11. 
36 RT 216:19-217:9. 
37 RT 148:7-23; 151. 
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Because tribal didn’t pay our health—wasn’t our health insurance then.  It was 

[IHS].”38  

C.   Mr. Loera received services from the Fort Mojave Tribe’s Education 
Department, Recreation Department, and Cultural Department. 

Mr. Loera’s mother, Ms. Ruiz, is employed as a home-school coordinator for 

the Fort Mojave Tribal education department.39 The tribal education department 

provides after-school tutoring and financial assistance for Indian children.40  When 

Mr. Loera was growing up, he received tutoring through the tribal education 

department, three to four times a week, from first grade until high school.41  Mr. 

Loera also received a “clothing allowance” from the tribal education department 

when it was offered.42  Mr. Loera also received funds from the tribal educational 

department to pay for supplies for art and science projects.43  The tribal education 

department funds and services were available to Indian students who could 

establish that they were an enrolled member of a tribe or a descendant of an 

enrolled member.44 

                                           
38 RT 151:20-21. 
39 RT 122:1-12. 
40 RT 122:7-12, 123:24-25, 124:1-25. 
41 RT 122:16-25, 123:1-6. 
42 RT 123:11-14. 
43 RT 123:15-23. 
44 RT 124:18-24. 
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Fort Mojave Tribal recreation department funds and services are available to 

tribal members and their descendants.45  When Mr. Loera was growing up, he 

received financial assistance from the Fort Mojave Tribe recreation department46 

because he was on the tribes’ travel basketball team.47  The team was comprised of 

“Mojave boys, or Native American boys.” 48 The tribal recreation department paid 

for Mr. Loera’s travel, room, food, equipment and tournament fees. 49 The director 

of the recreation department, who was a tribal member, would ask Mr. Loera to 

play whenever there was a tournament.50 The tribal recreation department also paid 

for Mr. Loera’s fees and equipment to play little league baseball and AYSO 

soccer.51  

Mr. Loera attended language and culture classes offered by the Fort Mojave 

Tribe Culture Department for two or three years starting when he was in the third 

or fourth grade.52 Ms. Ruiz testified that the classes were to try to “bring back our 

                                           
45 RT 127:19-22. 
46 RT 125:4 to 127:22. 
47 RT 126:12-20. 
48 RT 125:22-23. 
49 RT 125:24-25, 126:1-11. 
50 RT 126:18-25. 
51 RT 127:3-18. 
52 RT 128:5-16. 
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language” and “bring back our culture.”53 The children who attended the classes 

were all Fort Mojave tribal members or descendants of members.54  

D.   Mr. Loera was prosecuted criminally as a juvenile in the Fort Mojave 
Tribal Court.  

Mr. Loera was prosecuted in the Fort Mojave Tribal Court numerous times 

as a juvenile.55  At the evidentiary hearing on Mr. Loera’s motion to dismiss, he 

introduced into evidence nine Fort Mojave Tribal Court orders of which he was the 

subject, five of which related to criminal charges.56  Several of the orders contain 

more than one cause number.57  The orders indicate that Mr. Loera was subject to 

at least eight criminal juvenile prosecutions by the Fort Mojave Tribe.58  Between 

April 28, 1994, and September 10, 1997, Mr. Loera was prosecuted for underage 

consumption of alcohol, disorderly conduct, threats and endangerment, abusing 

property, obstruction of police duties, and drug paraphernalia.59  According to 

Sergeant Craig Anderson of the Fort Mojave Tribal Police, who also acts as a tribal 

prosecutor, these charges were all criminal.60  Mr. Loera received numerous 
                                           
53 RT 128:2-4. 
54 RT 129:5-17. 
55 RT 132:20-25, 133:1-8; 221:4-7. 
56 Def. Exh. 1 & 3 (Defense Exhibits 1-3 are attached to this Memorandum for 
convenience). 
57 Def. Exh. 1 & 3. 
58 Def. Exh. 1 & 3. 

59 See Def. Exh.1 & 3. 
60 RT 311:25-312:1; 317:8-18; 319:14-22; 321:17-25; 322:16-19. 
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criminal sentences from the tribal court as a result of these cases.  In cause number 

J-428-94.7, the Fort Mojave Tribal Court sentenced Mr. Loera to 10 days detention 

which was suspended for 90 days of probation.61  In cause numbers DL97-056, 057 

and 088, the Fort Mojave Tribal Court sentenced Mr. Loera to 30 days in jail, 

which was suspended in lieu of 30 days’ probation for the offense of obstruction of 

police duties.62  In that same order, the tribal court also sentenced Mr. Loera to 30 

days in jail, which was suspended in lieu of 30 days’ probation and “a fine of 

$75.00 to be done on Community Service within 60 days” for the crime of 

disorderly conduct.63  Sergeant Anderson testified that the sentences imposed in 

those cases were criminal and would have been given to a tribal member.64  

In addition to the criminal sentences indicated in the tribal-court records, Mr. 

Loera, his mother, and his aunt all testified that when Mr. Loera was a juvenile, the 

Fort Mojave Tribal Court sentenced him to a period of incarceration in the Bureau 

of Indian Affairs jail located in Peach Springs, Arizona.65 Mr. Loera testified that it 

was for 10 days.66  

In 2012, the Fort Mojave Tribal Court decided that it did not have criminal 

jurisdiction over Mr. Loera.  On or about November 5, 2012, the Fort Mojave 
                                           
61 Def. Exh.1, p. 3. 
62 Exh. 3, p. 6. 
63 Id. 
64 RT 318:5-12; 321:17-25. 
65 RT 133:9-12; 221:8-12; 31:3-13. 
66 RT 221:8-25. 
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Tribal Court dismissed charges against Mr. Loera on the ground that he is not an 

enrolled member of a federally recognized Indian tribe.67  As a result of this 

dismissal, the Fort Mojave Tribal Police referred the instant case to the United 

States Attorney’s Office in Flagstaff for prosecution.68  

E.   Mr. Loera spent approximately ten years in California state prison, 
during which time he lived as an Indian; between stints in prison, he 
lived on the Fort Mojave Indian reservation. 

When Mr. Loera was 18 years old, a California state court sentenced him to 

approximately eight years in prison.69  When he was released from prison, he 

returned to his aunt’s house in the Arizona Village area of the Fort Mojave 

Reservation.70  When Mr. Loera was 29 years old, he was again convicted of a 

crime in California state court and sentenced to a term of imprisonment of 

approximately two years.71  When he has not been incarcerated, he has lived at his 

aunt’s house in the Arizona Village area of the Fort Mojave Reservation.72  Mr. 

Loera maintains his mailing address at his mother’s house which is located in the 

town of Fort Mojave, near, but off the Fort Mojave Indian reservation.73   

                                           
67 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 14. 
68 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 15. 
69 RT 194:14-15. 
70 RT 194:19-21. 
71 RT 194:15-18. 
72 RT 193:24-25. 
73 RT 194:22-24; 52:22-53:3. 
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During his time in California state prison, Mr. Loera was housed as an 

Indian.74  Mr. Loera explained that inmates in the California prison system are 

segregated75 and that he was housed with the American Indians.76  Mr. Loera 

testified that, while he was in prison, he participated in the Native American 

religious sweat lodge ceremony of “inipi” every Saturday for seven years.77  He 

further testified that non-Indians were not allowed “on the grounds” of the prison’s 

sweat lodge.78  Not even the prison guards were allowed on the grounds of the 

sweat lodge; they had to stop at the gate.79 

F.  Mr. Loera has regularly attended the Fort Mojave Tribal Days 
celebration.  

Throughout his life, Mr. Loera has attended the Fort Mojave Tribal Days 

celebration. “Fort Mojave Tribal Days” is a celebration of the Fort Mojave people, 

and is held each year in October.80  Anyone can attend Fort Mojave Days, but it is 

primarily attended by Fort Mojave tribal members.81  Mr. Loera attended the Fort 

Mojave Days celebration every year of his life when he was not incarcerated.82  

Mr. Loera testified that “Fort Mojave Tribal Days is like our Christmas…. It’s just 
                                           
74 RT 209:3-211:11. 
75 RT 209:3-12. 
76 RT 211:10-11. 
77 RT 211:12-21. 
78 RT 211:22-24 . 
79 RT 211:22-212:2. 
80 RT 218:7-20. 
81 RT 219:9-19. 
82 RT 218:23-25; 84:19-24. 
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a gathering of the community to bring unity, to bring peace, and just celebrate us as 

a people, as one people, as the Mo[j]ave Tribe.”83 Mr. Loera’s aunt, Lena Holmes, 

testified that Fort Mojave Indian Days included “shinny games…watermelon-

eating contests and soda pop drinking,” “rac[es],” a “talent show,” and “singing the 

bird.”84  She testified that Mr. Loera participated in the Fort Mojave Indian Days 

events and that she had “pictures of him being in the contest, racing, just fun games 

that they would play.”85  Part of the Fort Mojave Tribal Days celebration was a 

pageant in which tribal members could “run[] for brave.”86  Mr. Loera is not 

permitted to run for brave because he is not an enrolled tribal member.87  

G.  Mr. Loera played shinny, a traditional game. 

The game of “shinny” is a traditional Fort Mojave Indian game similar to 

field hockey.88  Players make their own sticks out of plants called “dollies” that 

grow down by the river.89  Mr. Loera explained that they would “pull them [the 

plants] out fresh and soak them in the water to give them a bend like a hockey 

                                           
83 RT 218:8-11. 
84 RT 25:22-25, 26:1-5. 
85 RT 26:1-3. 
86 RT 219:5-8. 
87 Id. 
88 RT 25:8-16; 219:20-25, 220:1-12. 
89 RT 219:22-25. 
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stick.”90  He testified that he played the game when was growing up, but the last 

time he played was when he was in seventh grade.91 

Mr. Loera and his aunt both testified that the Fort Mojave Tribal Chairman 

had recently come to her house and invited Mr. Loera to play shinny.92  Mr. Loera 

explained that he grew up with the tribal chairman, Timothy Williams, and that 

Mr. Williams is “extended family” but a “closer friend.”93 

H.   Mr. Loera has attended and participated in traditional funeral 
ceremonies. 

Mr. Loera has attended and participated in many traditional Fort Mojave 

Indian funeral ceremonies.94  Mr. Loera’s mother, Lydia Ruiz, described the 

traditional Fort Mojave Indian ceremony as follows:  “[W]e take the body to a big 

house. It’s called a big house. It’s a mourning hall…. And there we do our 

traditional bird [singing]—singing and dancing. And around midnight they do a 

circle dance. The circle dance is to get them into the—you know, the happy 

hunting grounds. And then around four o’clock or five o’clock in the morning, they 

take them out to commission. And cremate them.”95  

                                           
90 RT 220:1-2. 
91 RT 220:11-14. 
92 RT 220:17-22; 84:3-9. 
93 RT 225:4-11. 

94 RT 139:8-11, 106:3-18. 
95 RT 137:18-25.      
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At traditional Fort Mojave Indian funerals, male family members wear 

“ribbon shirts.”96  At the end of the ceremony, the ribbon shirts are thrown into the 

fire.97  According to his mother, Mr. Loera has worn the traditional ribbon shirt and 

participated in the traditional funeral services approximately 10 to 15 times.98 

I. Mr. Loera participates in the Fort Mojave Indian practice of “singing 
bird.” 

The Fort Mojave Tribe has a traditional cultural practice called “singing 

bird.”99  Mr. Loera described it as follows: “Singing bird is a tradition that us males 

do and carry out—to carry out like a time of celebration, we have certain songs for 

bird—bird songs for celebration. Then we have certain songs for mourning when 

they have a funeral…, the celebration songs are just to bring good spirits and good 

medicine. And the mourning songs are sang… around the body of the deceased to 

send them off to their final resting to the happy hunting grounds.”100  Singing bird 

also involves the playing of a rattle made of a gourd, which is referred to as 

“throw[ing] gourd” and dancing.101  

                                           
96 RT 138:4-9; 86:11-14. 
97 RT 138:10-13. 
98 RT 139:8-11. 
99 RT 213:6-16. 
100 RT 213:7-16. 
101 RT 213:22-25.   
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Mr. Loera sings bird with his tribal member friends on Sundays during 

football season.102  He explained “during half-time the TV and radios go off and 

we sing bird.”103  He explained that he sang bird with his friends every Sunday 

during the 2012 football season.104  He also explained that he sang bird at his 

neice’s funeral.105  

J.   Mr. Loera’s tattoos reflect his affiliation with the Fort Mojave Indian 
Tribe. 

Mr. Loera has tattoos covering much of his body which celebrate his Indian 

identity.106  Tattooing is a Fort Mojave Tribal tradition.107  Mr. Loera has his 

grandmother’s name tattooed over his heart.108  He explained that he “got that 18 

years ago on the day my grandma passed away. I was…really close to my 

grandmother…. [S]he is the reason why I have the Mo[j]ave blood in me. And the 

day she passed away, that night, I just went and got her name tattooed over my 

heart.”109  Mr. Loera has a tattoo of his mother in a coyote headdress, which 

signifies their Fort Mojave Tribal clan “Hipa Ahtrahkoy, the coyote clan.”110  Mr. 

Loera also has “AZ Village” tattooed in large letters covering his entire upper 
                                           
102 RT 214:2-4. 
103 RT 214:3-4. 
104 RT 214:7-10. 
105 RT 230:1-3 
106 See M.J. Dkt. #16 Exh. C. 
107 RT 232:7-14. 
108 RT 231:24-25, 232:1-6. 
109 RT 232:2-6. 
110 RT 232:22-25; M.J. Dkt. #16 Exh. C. 
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back.111  That tattoo represents his village on the Fort Mojave Indian reservation 

where he “grew up” and wants to “live for the rest of [his] life” and “want[s] to 

raise [his] son.”112 

Mr. Loera also has a Fort Mojave Indian “spirit runner” tattooed on his 

back.113  Mr. Loera explained the significance of this tattoo as follows: “the Aha 

Macav people are known as spirit runners. And as you can see, he’s carrying a 

staff. The staff is [to] indicate—coming with good news. And we still do it to until 

this day. We run from Spirit Mountain. It’s probably about, I’d say… 18 to 15 

miles out from the reservation…. And the chairman is the one who carries the 

staff…. But along the way as he tires, he passes the staff on to who he sees fit.”114 

In addition to the tattoos noted above that represent Mr. Loera’s Fort Mojave 

Indian heritage, he also has many tattoos that represent American Indian culture in 

general.115  Mr. Loera has eagle feathers tattooed on the sides of his head, an 

Indian warrior on his left shoulder, “medicine wheels” on his head, a teepee on his 

left shoulder, an Indian drum head on his left upper arm, and an Indian tribal 

council meeting covering his lower back.116   

                                           
111 RT 236:16-17. 
112 RT 236:16-19; M.J. Dkt. #16 Exh. C. 
113 RT 238:9-12. 
114 RT 238:11-20. 
115 M.J. Dkt. #16 Exh. C. 
116 RT 233:3-237:13; M.J. Dkt. #16 Exh. C. 
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K.  Mr. Loera can use the tribal golf course and boat launch free of charge. 

The Fort Mojave Indian tribe has a golf course.117  Mr. Loera has golfed for 

free on the tribal golf course many times.118  Tribal members and descendants golf 

for free, but others must pay $80 to $120 to play 18 holes.119 The Tribe also has a 

boat launch.120  According to the government’s witness, Sergeant Anderson, Native 

Americans “are supposed to get [a permit], but they don’t have to pay for it.”121  

Non-Native Americans have to pay for permits.122  Mr. Loera testified that tribal 

authorities permitted him to use the tribal boat launch without even checking for a 

permit because the Tribal Rangers knew him.123  

L.   Mr. Loera is eligible to receive health services from both the Fort 
Mojave Indian Health Center and the federal Indian Health Service. 

Prior to the evidentiary hearing, the parties stipulated that, as a descendant of 

an enrolled tribal member, Mr. Loera is entitled to receive health care at the Fort 

Mojave Indian Health Center.124  The parties further stipulated that Mr. Loera 

received healthcare treatment at the Fort Mojave Indian Health Center on five 

                                           
117 RT 212:18-19. 
118 RT 212:22-25. 
119 RT 213:2-3. 
120 RT 331:23-332:4. 
121 RT 331:23-332:1.   
122 RT 332:2-4. 
123 RT 215:10-216:6. 
124 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶¶ 8 & 9. 
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dates—May 13, 2008; June 9, 2008; June 11, 2008; February 24, 2012; and 

October 31, 2012.125 

The parties also stipulated that, as a descendant of an enrolled tribal 

member, Mr. Loera is entitled to receive behavioral health services from the Fort 

Mojave Indian Tribal Behavioral Health Department.126  The parties stipulated that 

Mr. Loera received services from the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe Behavioral Health 

Department “in excess of forty different occasions between July 2, 2007 and 

February 23, 2010.”127 

After the evidentiary hearing, the parties agreed to submit into evidence two 

provisions of the tribal code and Indian Health Services records for Mr. Loera.128  

The court accepted the records into evidence and reaffirmed its prior ruling on Mr. 

Loera’s motion to dismiss.129  The Indian Health Services records reflect that the 

defendant is eligible for services; it contains the following language: 

“ELIGIBILITY:  CHS & DIRECT.”130  The records also reflect that Mr. Loera 

received a tonsillectomy on January 30, 1997, at the Phoenix Indian Medical 

                                           
125 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 10. 
126 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶¶ 11 & 12. 
127 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 13. 
128 M.J. Dkt. #31. 
129 M.J. Dkt. #36. 
130 M.J. Dkt. #31 Exh. C. 
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Center, which is an IHS hospital.131  Mr. Loera also received an influenza 

vaccination on September 1, 2011, at the Phoenix Indian Medical Center.132  

2.   Even though the magistrate judge concluded that Mr. Loera had made 
the required prima facie showing, he nevertheless denied Mr. Loera’s 
motion to dismiss because he did not prove that he is an Indian. 

The magistrate judge denied Mr. Loera’s motion to dismiss on July 1, 2013. 

Because under 18 U.S.C. § 1152, the defendant’s Indian status is an affirmative 

defense to prosecution, 133 the magistrate judge first examined whether Mr. Loera 

had made a prima facie showing that he is an Indian. The magistrate judge 

concluded that Mr. Loera had made that showing.134  “Accordingly, the burden has 

shifted to the government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendant is not 

an ‘Indian.’”135 

The magistrate judge then applied the test for Indian status articulated in the 

Ninth Circuit’s decision in United States v. Bruce, which “considers (1) the degree 

of Indian blood; and (2) tribal or government recognition as an Indian.”136  The 

magistrate judge found that Mr. Loera met the blood-quantum requirement because 

he “is 3/16th, or one and one-half eighths, Fort Mojave Indian blood by blood 

                                           
131 Id. 
132 Id. 
133 See United States v. Bruce, 394 F.3d 1215, 1222–23 (9th Cir. 2005). 
134 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 14. 
135 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 14. 
136 394 F.3d at 1223 (internal quotation marks omitted). 
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quantum.”137  On the tribal-or-governmental-recognition prong, the magistrate 

judge concluded: 

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Defendant does not meet the 
first, and most important element of the second half of the Bruce test, 
i.e., Defendant is not an enrolled member of a federally-recognized 
Indian tribe. With regard to the second and third elements, Defendant 
has received some benefits reserved to the descendants of Indians, 
although not those reserved to Indians, and Defendant has enjoyed 
some benefits of tribal affiliation. 

With regard to the fourth element of the second prong of the Bruce 
test, although a close issue, the Court concludes Defendant has not 
established sufficient, current, “social recognition as an Indian 
through residence on a reservation and participation in Indian social 
life.” The evidence in this matter indicates that Defendant has never 
maintained his own residence on the reservation and, unlike a tribal 
member, Defendant can be removed and excluded from the Fort 
Mojave Indian Reservation. Defendant is ineligible to run for tribal 
office and he may not vote in tribal elections. Most importantly, the 
only tribe with which Defendant claims affiliation has repeatedly 
refused to recognize him as a member. The Fort Mojave Tribal Court 
has decided that it does not have criminal jurisdiction over Defendant 
due to his status as a non-member. 

Accordingly, after balancing all the factors in the Bruce test, the Court 
concludes the government has met its burden of proof and shown 
beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendant is a non-“Indian”. 
Therefore, the Court has jurisdiction over Defendant, a non-Indian, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1152.138 

                                           
137 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 14. 
138 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 19:21 to 20.13. 
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3. Mr. Loera pleaded guilty to the single count in the information, 
reserving his right to challenge the magistrate judge’s denial of his 
motion to dismiss. 

In the wake of the magistrate judge’s conclusion that the government proved 

beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Loera is not an Indian, Mr. Loera entered into 

a plea agreement in order to settle the charge against him. Mr. Loera agreed to 

plead guilty to the single charge in the information and accept a six-month 

sentence.139  In exchange, the government agreed that his sentence would run 

concurrently with a sentence imposed in another misdemeanor case (which did not 

rest on 18 U.S.C. §1152 jurisdiction), and that he would retain his right to appeal 

the magistrate judge’s denial of his motion to dismiss.140  On September 4, 2013, 

Mr. Loera pleaded guilty and the magistrate judge sentenced him to six months’ 

incarceration, with credit for time served.141  Because Mr. Loera had been detained 

pending trial,142 he was released from this sentence shortly after the sentencing 

hearing. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This Court should reverse Mr. Loera’s conviction and remand with 

instructions to dismiss the information in this case. First, the magistrate judge erred 

                                           
139 M.J. Dkt. #41 at 1. 
140 M.J. Dkt. #41 at 1, 3. 
141 M.J. Dkt. ##40, 42. 
142 M.J. Dkt. #7. 
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by forcing Mr. Loera to prove he is an Indian after concluding that Mr. Loera had 

presented a prima facie case in support of his affirmative defense. This improperly 

shifted the burden of proof away from the government, which bears the burden of 

disproving that Mr. Loera is an Indian beyond a reasonable doubt. Second, in light 

of the extensive evidence of tribal, federal, and social recognition of Mr. Loera as a 

member of the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe, the magistrate judge’s conclusion that the 

government proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Loera is not an Indian is 

not supported by the evidence. 

ARGUMENT 

Under 18 U.S.C. § 1152, the “general laws of the United States as to the 

punishment of offenses committed in any place within the sole and exclusive 

jurisdiction of the United States… shall extend to the Indian country.”  But 

jurisdiction under § 1152 is not proper when the case concerns an “offense[] 

committed by one Indian against the person or property of another Indian.” Indian 

status under § 1152 thus is “in the nature of an affirmative defense” to 

prosecution.143   In Bruce, the Ninth Circuit set forth a multi-pronged test for 

determining Indian status that considers (1) the degree of Indian blood; and (2) 

tribal or government recognition as an Indian.144  Both prongs must be satisfied.145 

                                           
143 United States v. Bruce, 394 F.3d 1215, 1223 (9th Cir. 2005). 
144 Id. at 1223 
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“The first prong requires ancestry living in America before the Europeans arrived,” 

but since this fact is typically not provable, “evidence of a parent, grandparent, or 

great-grandparent who is clearly identifiable as an Indian is generally sufficient to 

satisfy this prong.”146  The second prong “probes whether the Native American has 

a sufficient non-racial link to a formerly sovereign people.”147 Factors relevant to 

this determination, “in declining order of importance,” are: (1) tribal enrollment; 

(2) government recognition through receipt of assistance reserved only to Indians; 

(3) enjoyment of the benefits of tribal affiliation; and (4) social recognition as an 

Indian through residence on a reservation and participation in Indian social life.148  

Tribal enrollment, or eligibility therefor, “is not dispositive of Indian status.”149 

Bruce establishes a burden-shifting approach to determining whether a 

defendant is an Indian, and therefore exempt from prosecution under 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1152. First, the defendant “must come forward with enough evidence of her 

Indian status to permit a fact-finder to decide the issue in her favor.”150  Once the 

                                                                                                                                        
145 Id. 
146 Id. 
147 Id. at 1224 (citations omitted). 

148 Id. 
149 Id. at 1225; see also United States v. Cruz, 554 F.3d 840, 847 (9th Cir. 2009). 

150 Bruce, 394 F.3d at 1223. 
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defendant has met the burden of production, it then falls to the government to 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is not an Indian.151   

1.   The magistrate judge erred when he placed the burden on Mr. Loera to 
prove that he is an Indian, instead of on the government to disprove that 
he is an Indian.  

Standard of Review. Whether a magistrate judge improperly shifted the 

burden of proof is reviewed de novo.152  

In this case, after the presentation of evidence on the Defendant’s motion, 

the court concluded that the defendant had met his burden of production by 

proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant was an “Indian.”153 

The magistrate judge acknowledged that the burden then shifted to the government 

to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Loera was not an Indian.154  However, 

in the ensuing analysis, the magistrate judge continued to place the burden of 

proving Indian status on Mr. Loera.   

The parties stipulated that Mr. Loera was three-sixteenths Fort Mojave 

Indian but was not an enrolled member. Consequently, the only issues in dispute 

were the last three factors under the second prong of the Bruce test, namely (2) 

government recognition through receipt of assistance reserved only to Indians; (3) 

                                           
151 Id. 
152 United States v. Coutchavlis, 260 F.3d 1149, 1156 (9th Cir. 2001). 
153 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 14:8–10. 
154 Id. 
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enjoyment of the benefits of tribal affiliation; and (4) social recognition as an 

Indian through residence on a reservation and participation in Indian social life. 

In analyzing the second factor of the second prong of the Bruce test, 

“government recognition reserved only to Indians,” the magistrate judge required 

Mr. Loera to “establish[] that he received benefits from the federal government 

reserved only to Indians.”155  This was wrong, because the magistrate had already 

determined that the defendant had met his initial burden of production.  Once Mr. 

Loera met his burden of production, it became the government’s task to prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt the absence of government recognition through receipt 

of assistance reserved only to Indians.  At that point in the proceedings, the 

defendant did not need to establish anything; it was the government’s burden to 

prove that he was not an Indian beyond a reasonable doubt.156  

The magistrate judge also required Mr. Loera to “establish[] sufficient, 

current, social recognition as an Indian through residence on a reservation and 

participation in Indian social life.”157 But because Mr. Loera had already met his 

burden of production under the Bruce test, it was the government’s burden to prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that he had no social recognition as an Indian through 

participation in the social life of the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe. It was thus error for 
                                           
155 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 16:5–7. 
156 See Bruce, 394 F.3d at 1223. 

157 M.J. Dkt. #19:22–25. 
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the magistrate judge to place the burden on Mr. Loera to prove this factor, rather 

than on the government to disprove it. This violated Mr. Loera’s right to due 

process of law.158 

2.   The evidence was insufficient to support the conclusion that Mr. Loera 
is not an Indian. 

Standard of Review. This Court reviews de novo whether the evidence was 

sufficient to support the conclusion that Mr. Loera is not an Indian for purposes of 

§ 1152.159  This Court must consider whether, viewing the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the 

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.160  Put another way, if, 

after construing all the evidence in favor of the government, there is still some 

evidence to support the conclusion that Mr. Loera is an Indian, then this Court 

must reverse the conviction. 

Because the parties stipulated that Mr. Loera has the requisite blood 

quantum, the magistrate judge treated that factor as established. It thus favors the 

conclusion that Mr. Loera is an Indian. Moreover, while Mr. Loera is not an 

enrolled member of the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe, he is a descendant member of 

                                           
158 See Bruce, 394 F.3d at 1223 (citing Martin v. Ohio, 480 U.S. 228, 237 (1987) 
(Powell, J., dissenting). 
159 See United States v. Diaz, 679 F.3d 1183, 1187 (10th Cir. 2012). 
160 United States v. Nevils, 598 F.3d 1158, 1163-64 (9th Cir. 2010) (en banc). 
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the tribe, which “reflects some degree of recognition” by the tribe.161  In any event, 

there was ample evidence before the magistrate judge, even when that evidence is 

construed in favor of the government, to support the conclusion that Mr. Loera was 

recognized as an Indian by the tribal government, the federal government, and the 

Fort Mojave community.  

A.   There was ample evidence to support the conclusion that Mr. Loera has 
received tribal or governmental recognition as an Indian. 

As set forth above, the Bruce court set forth several factors that should be 

considered in determining whether a defendant has received tribal or government 

recognition as an Indian.  The evidence was overwhelming that each of these 

factors is present with respect to Mr. Loera. 

(1)  Defendant has received government recognition through receipt of 
assistance reversed only to Indians.    

The uncontested evidence established that Mr. Loera received free 

healthcare at the Fort Mojave Indian Health Center five times as an adult between 

2008 and 2012.162  The uncontested evidence established that Mr. Loera received 

free behavioral health services from the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe Behavioral 

Health Department as an adult in excess of forty times between 2007 and 2010.163  

The uncontested evidence established that Mr. Loera received free health care from 

                                           
161 United States v. Maggi, 598 F.3d 1073, 1082 (9th Cir. 2010). 
162 M.J. Dkt. #16 at 3 ¶ 10. 
163 M.J. Dkt. #16 at 3 ¶ 13. 
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the Phoenix Indian Medical Center on two occasions; once as a juvenile and once 

as an adult.164 

All of these services are reserved for Indians. The Fort Mojave Indian Health 

Center is a tribal medical facility, which is operated by the Tribe pursuant to a 

“638 contract” under the Indian Self Determination and Education Assistance 

Act. 165 To be eligible for treatment at the Fort Mojave Indian Health Center, 

patients must provide either proof of tribal enrollment in a federally recognized 

Indian Tribe or proof of descendency from a member of a federally recognized 

Indian Tribe. Mr. Loera is eligible to receive healthcare treatment from the Fort 

Mojave Indian Health Center because he is a descendant of an enrolled member of 

a federally recognized Indian tribe. 

Moreover, Mr. Loera received benefits from the IHS hospital both as a child 

and as an adult.  Mr. Loera’s mother testified that, when he was a child, the Fort 

Mojave Indian Health Center had not yet been built, so she took him to clinics 

operated by IHS.166  She explained that, at that time, there was a Community 

Health Representative office on the reservation.167  She testified that Mr. Loera 

“got his shots” there and other “well-child” services.168  On cross-examination, the 

                                           
164 M.J. Dkt. #36 Exh. C. 
165 P.L. 93-638, 25, U.S.C. §§ 450, et seq. 
166 RT 120:18–25. 
167 RT 148:10–15. 
168 RT 148:11–17. 
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government questioned Ms. Ruiz as to the source of her knowledge about her son’s 

healthcare.169  Ms. Ruiz explained that the Community Health Representative 

Office made doctor appointments for Mr. Loera’s healthcare, and that she did not 

have to pay for it.170  She explained that these services were paid for by IHS: “It 

was [IHS].  Because tribal didn’t pay our health—wasn’t our health insurance then.  

It was [IHS].”  

The Community Health Representative Program is an IHS program which 

was created under the Indian Health Care Act.171  That law states “the Secretary [of 

Health and Human Services] shall maintain a Community Health Representative 

Program under which the [Indian Health] Service (1) provides for the training of 

Indians as health paraprofessionals, and (2) uses such paraprofessionals in the 

provision of health care, health promotion, and disease prevention services to 

Indian communities.”172  

In the face of this undisputed evidence, the magistrate judge nevertheless 

concluded that Mr. Loera did not receive services from these facilities that were 

reserved exclusively for Indians. His conclusion that Mr. Loera “did not receive 

                                           
169 RT 151:7–23. 
170 RT 151:12–13. 
171 25 U.S.C. § 1616. 
172 25 U.S.C. 1616(a), 25 U.S.C. §1603(17) & (18) (defining term “Secretary” to 
mean “Secretary of Health and Human Services,” and the term “Service” to mean 
“Indian Health Service.”). 
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free healthcare available only to Indians, i.e., services provided by IHS,”173 is 

simply incorrect. Moreover, even when these services are provided to descendants 

of eligible Indians, they amount to services reserved exclusively for Indians for 

purposes of the Bruce test.  

In United States v. Cruz, the government argued that the defendant was an 

Indian, in part, because he enjoyed “descendant status” which made him “eligible 

to receive certain assistance reserved for Native Americans.”174  The court in Cruz 

held that because it was not shown that the defendant actually received the services 

to which he was entitled as an eligible descendant, this aspect of the Bruce test had 

not been met.175 Here, by contrast, Mr. Loera is eligible for and received services 

many times.  The parties stipulated that he received services from the Fort Mojave 

Indian Health Center on five separate occasions.176   The parties stipulated that he 

received services from the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe Behavioral Health 

Department in excess of 40 times.177   Further, Mr. Loera’s IHS records show that 

he received services from the Phoenix Indian Medical Center on two occasions.178      

Moreover, a defendant must avail himself of services to which he is eligible 

as a descendant on more than an isolated occasion in order to satisfy this aspect of 
                                           
173 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 17. 
174 554 F.3d 840, 847 (9th Cir. 2009). 
175 See id. at 848. 
176 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 10. 
177 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 13. 
178 M.J. Dkt. #31 Exh. C at 5. 
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the Bruce test. For instance, in United States v. Maggi, the defendant was not an 

enrolled member, but had descendant status with a federally recognized tribe.179  

While in Maggi the defendant’s descendant status entitled the defendant “to use 

Indian Health Services, to receive some educational grants, and to fish and hunt on 

the reservation,” the court held the evidence insufficient on this part of the Bruce 

test because the defendant had only used Indian Health Services one time and that 

there was no evidence that he had taken advantage of any other tribal benefits.180  

Here, by contrast, it is undisputed that Mr. Loera frequently availed himself of a 

plethora of benefits available to him as an eligible descendant. 

(2)  The magistrate judge erred when he discounted evidence that Mr. Loera 
received benefits from the federal government. 

Moreover, the magistrate judge’s artificial distinction between services 

provided by IHS and those provided by Fort Mojave Health Center is inconsistent 

with Bruce. Just like services at the Fort Mojave Indian Health Center, IHS 

services are available to descendant Indians. The Indian Healthcare Act defines 

“Indian” to include a person who “who is a descendant, in the first or second 

degree, of [a tribal] member.”181  Further, 25 U.S.C. § 1603(13)(D) includes in the 

definition of “Indian” an individual who “is determined to be an Indian under 

                                           
179 598 F.3d 1073, 1082 (9th Cir. 2010). 
180 Id. 
181 25 U.S.C. § 1603(13)(A) (emphasis added). 
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regulations promulgated by the Secretary.”182   The Code of Federal Regulations 

further clarifies that “[s]ervices will be made available to persons of Indian descent 

belonging to the Indian community served by the local facilities and program.”183 

Both the IHS and the Fort Mojave Indian Health Center provide free healthcare to 

descendants of enrolled tribal members.  Both are services reserved to Indians by 

the federal or tribal government.   

In any event, the Bruce test does not limit the inquiry to benefits provided by 

the federal government. The test also requires the court to consider tribal 

recognition through benefits provided by the tribe.184  The Bruce court explained, 

“[n]or have we required evidence of federal recognition.  Rather, we have 

emphasized that there must be some kind of evidence of government or tribal 

recognition.”185   

B.  Mr. Loera enjoyed the benefits of tribal affiliation. 

The magistrate judge found that while Mr. Loera had produced evidence that 

he received descendant benefits from the tribe, this did not establish that he 

enjoyed benefits of tribal affiliation because “such descendant benefits are benefits 

provided to the tribal member, in this case Defendant’s mother, and not evidence 

                                           
182 25 U.S.C. § 1603(13)(D). 
183 42 C.F.R. § 136.12(a)(1). 
184 See 394 F.3d at 1225. 
185 Id. (emphasis in original). 
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of Defendant’s political affinity with the tribe.”186  He added, “Without such 

descendant benefits Defendant’s mother would have been required to seek 

assistance off the reservation.”187 

While there is some logic to the magistrate’s conclusion with regard to 

benefits provided to Mr. Loera as a juvenile when his mother was responsible for 

his care, that reasoning cannot apply to benefits that he enjoyed as an adult.  Once 

he reached adulthood, his mother would not have been responsible for his 

healthcare.  Mr. Loera has nevertheless received extensive benefits from the tribe 

as an adult.  Specifically, the parties stipulated that Mr. Loera “received healthcare 

treatment at the Fort Mojave Indian Health Center in Mohave Valley, Arizona, on 

or about May 13, 2008, June 9, 2008, June 11, 2008, February 24, 2012, and 

October 31, 2012.”188 

On all of those dates, Mr. Loera was an adult.  Uncontroverted evidence 

established that Mr Loera is presently 32 years old.189  Stipulated evidence 

established that the defendant received medical care at the Fort Mojave Indian 

Health Center as an adult on at least five separate occasions.190  The parties also 

stipulated that Mr. Loera “received services from the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe 

                                           
186 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 16:15–18. 
187 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 16:18–20. 
188 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 10. 
189 RT 145:22–23. 
190 M.J. Dkt. #16 at 3 ¶ 10. 
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Behavioral Health Department in excess of forty different occasions between July 

2, 2007 and February 23, 2010.”191  During this period of time, Mr. Loera was 

between 26 and 29 years old.192  

Finally, the stipulated evidence showed that, at the age of 30, the defendant 

received an influenza vaccination on September 1, 2011, from the Phoenix Indian 

Medical Center, an IHS facility.193 Thus Mr. Loera clearly enjoyed “the benefits of 

tribal affiliation” in the form of healthcare and behavioral health services as an 

adult.  No rational trier of fact could have found that the government had proved 

beyond a reasonable doubt that he did not.   

Additionally, uncontroverted evidence established, and the magistrate judge 

found, that, as a tribal descendant, Mr. Loera was eligible to use tribal recreational 

facilities at no cost, including a tribal golf course and boat launch.194  These 

facilities can be used by the public, but a fee is required.195  Mr. Loera testified that 

he has golfed for free “many times” on the tribal golf course.196  He further 

testified that “[w]hen I’m out there, I [golf] every Sunday with my uncle.”197  He 

also testified that for non-tribal members and non-descendants, it costs between 

                                           
191 M.J. Dkt. #16 ¶ 13. 
192 RT 145:22–23. 
193 M.J. Dkt. #31 Exh. C at 2. 
194 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 11:19–22. 
195 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 11:22–23. 
196 RT 212:22–25. 
197 RT 213:4–5. 
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$80 and $120 to play 18 holes on the tribal golf course.198  The government 

presented no evidence to counter this testimony.   

Further, uncontroverted evidence established, and the magistrate found that, 

because he was a tribal descendant, Mr. Loera received tutoring services through 

the Fort Mojave Indian Tribe during elementary and high school.199 

Uncontroverted evidence established and the magistrate found that, as a juvenile, 

the defendant received breakfast and lunch through the Fort Mojave Tribal 

nutrition program.200  Uncontroverted evidence established and the magistrate 

found that the defendant attended summer classes at the Fort Mojave Tribal 

Cultural Department from age 9 to 11.201  Stipulated and uncontroverted evidence 

established unquestionably that Mr. Loera enjoyed many “benefits of tribal 

affiliation” thus satisfying the third factor of the second prong of the Bruce test.202  

No rational trier of fact could have found that the government proved beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the defendant did not “enjoy the benefits of tribal affiliation.”  

                                           
198 RT 213:1–3. 
199 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 10:12–16. 
200 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 10:18–19. 
201 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 10:20–22. 
202 394 F.3d at 1224 
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C.   Mr. Loera is socially recognized as a Fort Mojave Indian.  

(1)  Mr. Loera has lived the majority of his life on the Fort Mojave Indian 
Reservation.  

Uncontroverted evidence established that Mr. Loera met the fourth factor of 

the second prong of the Bruce test, which examines “social recognition as an 

Indian through residence on a reservation and participation in Indian social life.”203  

The evidence established, and the court found that, when he was growing up, Mr. 

Loera lived the majority of his life on the reservation.204  Mr. Loera testified that, 

when he is not incarcerated, he lives at the home of his aunt, Lena Holmes, which 

is located in the Arizona Village on the Fort Mojave Reservation.205 Mr. Loera was 

living on the reservation at his aunt’s house at the time of the offense in this 

case.206  Essentially, the evidence showed that, other than the time he was 

incarcerated, Mr. Loera lived on the reservation.  Further, evidence showed that the 

Fort Mojave Tribe has provisions in its tribal code to exclude both members and 

non-members from the reservation, yet the Tribe has never excluded Mr. Loera.207  

Clearly, the evidence supports the conclusion that Mr. Loera resides on the 

                                           
203 Id. 
204 M.J. Dkt. #26 ¶ 14; M.J. Dkt. #29 at 8:28, 9:1. 
205 RT 193:24 to 194:2. 
206 RT 193:24 to 194:2; 46:4–16; 132:3–16. 
207 RT 301:15-302:8. 
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reservation and therefore has social recognition as an Indian, as defined by 

Bruce.208 

Nevertheless, the magistrate judge concluded that Mr. Loera had not lived 

his “entire life” on the reservation because he had been incarcerated in California 

for approximately ten years of his adult life.209  He also found that defendant “has 

never maintained his own residence on the reservation.”210  But nothing in Bruce 

deprives a person of Indian status either because he may have been incarcerated in 

a state prison as permitted under 18 U.S.C. § 1162, or because he does not live 

apart from his extended family.  Bruce directs the court to look at whether 

defendant “resides” on the reservation, not whether he maintains his own 

residence, nor whether he resided on the reservation for his entire life.211  

(2)  The Fort Mojave Tribe socially accepts Mr. Loera as an Indian. 

Furthermore, the uncontested evidence established that Mr. Loera has social 

acceptance by the Fort Mojave Tribe.  His mother, aunt, cousins, girlfriend/mother 

of his children, and son are enrolled members of the tribe. When he was growing 

up, he played on the tribal basketball team. He received nutrition and tutoring 

services from the Tribe. He played the traditional game of shinny.  He went to the 
                                           
208 394 F.3d at 1224. 
209 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 18:19–20. 
210 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 19:26-27. 
211 394 F.3d at 1224. 
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Fort Mojave Days. He has participated in sacred tribal funeral ceremonies. He 

participated in “singing bird” with his cousins. He spends all of his time on the 

reservation. He knows the tribal chairman by name because they grew up together. 

The tribal chair recently invited him to come play the traditional game of shinny.  

All of this evidence establishes that the defendant has social recognition as an 

Indian from the tribe.  

Yet the magistrate judge dismissed all of this evidence of Mr. Loera’s social 

acceptance as an Indian, focusing exclusively on the fact that the tribe had rejected 

his applications for enrollment. This reasoning improperly conflates the first and 

fourth factors of the second prong of the Bruce test. And in any event, just as 

enrollment is not dispositive of Indian status, so too lack of enrollment is not 

dispositive of Indian status. The magistrate judge’s refusal to consider the 

extensive evidence of Mr. Loera’s involvement in the social life of the Fort Mojave 

tribe because he is not enrolled in that tribe is a legal error under Bruce.  

(3)  Mr. Loera self-identifies as an Indian. 

In addition to ignoring the fourth factor of the second prong of Bruce, the 

magistrate judge disregarded the Ninth Circuit’s directive to consider the “extent to 

which an individual considers himself and Indian.”212  In Cruz, the court stated: 

“Under Bruce, the extent to which an individual considers himself an Indian—

                                           
212 United States v. Cruz, 554 F.3d 840, 849-50 (9th Cir. 2009). 
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whether by deciding, for example, to reside[] on a reservation, to participat[e] in 

Indian social life, or to recei[ve] assistance reserved only to Indians, is most 

certainly relevant in determining his Indian status.”213  “Bruce…requires an 

analysis from the perspective of both the tribe and the individual.”214  The 

magistrate judge did not even address the extensive and uncontested evidence that 

the defendant considers himself an Indian by residing on the Fort Mojave 

Reservation, participating in Indian social life by receiving assistance reserved to 

Indians many, many times throughout his life.  

Furthermore, Mr. Loera’s uncontested testimony established that while he 

was in prison, he was housed as an Indian with other Indians. He testified that 

prisoner housing is racially segregated. White prisoners are housed together; black 

prisoners are housed together; Hispanic prisoners are housed together; and Indian 

prisoners are housed together. During his imprisonment, he was housed with the 

Indian prisoners. During his imprisonment, he participated in the Native American 

religious practice of the sweat lodge ceremony every week for approximately 

seven years. No non-Indians—not even the prison guards—were permitted to enter 

the sweat lodge unless they were invited. The government offered no evidence to 

contradict this testimony.  

                                           
213 Id. 
214 Id. at 850. 
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Moreover, Mr. Loera has literally covered himself in tattoos that identify 

him as an Indian and celebrate both his Fort Mojave identity and Native American 

culture more broadly. His largest tattoo is of the reservation village where he grew 

up and considers home. The tattoo has the words “Arizona Village” written in 

large letters covering his entire upper back and then a ribbon meant to depict the 

Colorado River, which flows through the Fort Mojave Reservation and is very 

important to the culture of the Pipa Aha Macav (People by the River).215 The 

defendant has a “Spirit Runner” tattooed on his shoulder, which is a Fort Mojave 

practice of running between the different reservations after the tribe was split up by 

the reservation system.216 The defendant has a picture of his mother wearing a 

coyote headdress, which is his family clan.217 These tattoos identify him as a Fort 

Mojave Indian.  

D.  Mr. Loera has been prosecuted criminally by the Fort Mojave tribal 
court. 

The Ninth Circuit has said that “the assumption and exercise of tribal 

jurisdiction over criminal charges, demonstrates tribal recognition.”218  Here, the 

magistrate judge concluded that Mr. Loera did not have social recognition as an 

Indian because he had not been criminally prosecuted in the tribal court.  The 
                                           
215 RT 239:1-9. 
216 RT 238:9-24. 
217 RT 240:7-14. 
218 United States v. LaBuff, 658 F.3d 873, 879 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing Bruce, 394 
F.3d at 1227). 
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magistrate concluded that Mr. Loera’s multiple juvenile sentences for violations of 

the tribal criminal code, which included sentences of incarceration and probation, 

were “civil in nature.”219  Specifically, the judge stated: “The Court concludes, 

from the Tribal Police Officer’s testimony, that the [juvenile] proceedings were 

civil in nature and presumes they were conducted in a manner similar to that found 

in [BIA regulations].”220  

The judge’s conclusion is contrary to the testimony of the tribal police 

officers at the evidentiary hearing.  Tribal Police Officer Matthew Kevin Jenkins 

testified about whether juvenile proceedings were civil or criminal depending on 

the juvenile’s Indian status, Officer Jenkins testified: “I can’t give you a definite 

‘yes’ or ‘no.’”221   “I’m not 100 percent sure,” he said.222 Officer Jenkins testified 

that he believed juvenile proceedings against tribal members are criminal in 

nature. 223  Finally, the officer testified that a tribal juvenile prosecution that results 

in incarceration is criminal in nature.224  Officer Jenkins’s testimony directly 

contradicts the magistrate judge’s conclusion that Mr. Loera has never been subject 

to the criminal jurisdiction of the tribal courts.       

                                           
219 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 17 n.9. 
220 M.J. Dkt. #29 at 18 n.9. 
221 RT 309:8. 
222 RT 309:18. 
223 RT 307:7–14. 
224 RT 310:3–5. 
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The government’s other witness, Sergeant Craig Anderson of the Fort 

Mojave Tribal Police, testified that most of Mr. Loera’s juvenile-court records 

submitted in defense exhibits 1 and 2 were criminal in nature.225  Specifically, the 

sergeant reviewed the tribal-court records which had been admitted into evidence 

and testified about them as follows: 

1.  Tribal Court Order dated April 28, 1994, indicates that Mr. Loera was 

cited for underage consumption of alcohol in violation of section 352.C, which “is 

a criminal section of the Fort Mojave Law and Order Code” and consequently the 

defendant was charged criminally in that case.226   

2. Tribal Court Order, Case No. J-428-94.7, dated October 28, 1994, 

does not indicate the charge, but it imposed a sentence of 10 days of detention 

which was suspended for 90 days probation; that would have been a criminal 

charge because “[c]ivilly they don’t give out probation.”227  

3. Tribal Court Order, Case No. DL96-031 & DL96-039, dated June 24, 

1996, indicates that the defendant was charged with violating Section 326, abusing 

property, and Section 318, threats or tndangerment.228 “Section 326 and Section 

318…are criminal charges.”229  

                                           
225 RT 317–322. 
226 RT 317:9–18; Def. Exh. 1 at 2. 
227 RT 317:22 to 318:12; Def. Exh. 1 at 3. 
228 Def. Exh. 3 at 3. 
229 RT 319:21–22. 
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4. Tribal Court Order, Case No. DL97-056, 057, 088, dated September 

10, 1997, indicates that the defendant was charged with obstructing performance of 

police duties, Section 339.C, disorderly conduct, Section 343; and abusing 

property, Section 326. 230  It further indicates that Mr. Loera entered into a plea 

agreement and was sentenced to 30 days in jail, suspended in lieu of 30 days’ 

probation for the offenses of obstruction of justice and disorderly conduct.231  

Sergeant Anderson explained that sections 339, 343 and 326 are criminal and that 

the jail sentence also indicated that the matter was criminal.232 

5. Tribal Court Order, Case No. DC96-027, dated May 1, 1996, indicates 

that the defendant was charged with “Paraphernalia” under Section 354 of the 

Tribal Code. 233  Sergeant Anderson testified that Section 354 is criminal.234 

In sum, of the nine Fort Mojave Tribal Court orders entered into evidence, 

only two clearly contained citations for civil offenses. 235  Sergeant Anderson also 

agreed that, as a juvenile, there were some times when the defendant was “treated 

by the tribe criminally.”236 

                                           
230 Def. Exh. 3 at 6. 
231 Id. 
232 RT 321:19–25. 
233 Def. Exh. 3 at 8–9. 
234 RT 322:18–19. 
235 RT 316:20–22; 318:21–23. 
236 RT 322:22–25. 
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Sergeant Anderson further testified that, as part of his duties, he acted as a 

tribal prosecutor.237  He testified that based on his experience as a tribal prosecutor 

he could not file criminal juvenile charges against an individual who was not a 

tribal member.238  He further testified that he had never prosecuted a non-Native 

juvenile criminally in tribal court and that he was not aware of a non-Native 

juvenile ever being prosecuted criminally in tribal court.239  

To be sure, the Tribal Court Code does characterize the juvenile proceedings 

as civil in nature.240  But this characterization is directly contradicted by the 

testimony of the two government witnesses.  The tribal officer’s testimony 

explained that, in practice, only Native American juveniles are prosecuted in the 

tribal court for violations of the tribal criminal code and given sentences of 

incarceration or probation.241   

Moreover, it would not be consistent with the principles of constitutional 

law or federal Indian law for a tribal court to be able incarcerate non-Indian 

juveniles when it cannot incarcerate non-Indian adults.242  The Supreme Court 

rejected similar reasoning in the seminal juvenile case in which it held that 

juveniles facing delinquency proceedings were guaranteed the same due process 
                                           
237 RT 311:25 to 312:1. 
238 RT 334:12–19. 
239 RT 334:12–24. 
240 Children’s Article, Chapter 1, Section 3. 
241 RT 334:12–24; 317:22 to 318:12; 310:3–5. 
242 See Oliphant v. Suquamish Indian Tribe, 435 U.S. 191, 196 (1978). 
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rights as adults in juvenile proceedings.243  In holding that Fifth Amendment 

protections applied to juveniles, the Court stated:  “To hold otherwise would be to 

disregard substance because of the feeble enticement of the ‘civil’ label-of-

convenience which has been attached to juvenile proceedings.”244  “It is 

incarceration against one’s will, whether it is called civil or criminal.”245  

CONCLUSION 

Because the magistrate judge incorrectly forced Mr. Loera to shoulder the 

burden of proving that he is an Indian, and in any event the evidence allowed a 

rational factfinder to conclude that he is an Indian, this Court should reverse Mr. 

Loera’s conviction and remand for dismissal of the information against him. 

 Respectfully submitted:   December 16, 2013. 
 
       JON M. SANDS 
       Federal Public Defender 
 
          s/Luke S. Mulligan  
       LUKE S. MULLIGAN 
       Assistant Federal Public Defender 
       Attorney for Defendant Loera 
  

                                           
243 See In re Gault, 387 U.S. 1 (1967). 
244 Id. at 50. 
245 Id. 
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